FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
6/10/2021 2:41 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99879-5

Court of Appeals No. 53991-8-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REAL CARRIAGE DOOR COMPANY, INC., ex rel. SCOTT T. REES, MARDIE A. R. BRODERICK and JEREMY BRODERICK, Shareholders Thereof; and SCOTT T. REES, MARDIE A.R. BRODERICK and JEREMY E. BRODERICK, Individually

Respondents,

VS.

DON T. REES

Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERTS JOHNS & HEMPHILL, PLLC

Michael M.K. Hemphill, WSBA #27340 Mark R. Roberts, WSBA #18811 Attorneys for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Don Rees ("Rees"), the defendant in this matter and respondent at the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Rees seeks review of the decision filed by Division Two on May 11, 2021 (the "Decision"), reversing in part and affirming in part the trial court's judgment dismissing all claims asserted against Rees. A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix pages 1-24.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' Decision conflict with *Scott v*. *Trans-System, Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 64 P.3d 1 (2003), when it agreed Rees's salary was reasonable but then held that Rees oppressed the minority shareholders as a matter of law by not making shareholder dividend distributions?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' Decision conflict with *Am. Nursery Prods., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards*, 115 Wn.2d 217, 797 P.2d 477 (1990), and other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals establishing the appropriate standard of review from a bench trial where the Court of Appeals reviewed *de novo* the reasonableness of Rees's decision to discontinue shareholder dividends and increase his salary?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' Decision involve a question of substantial public interest because it establishes that minority shareholders

of every corporation in this state have been oppressed <u>as a matter of law</u> when a shareholder dividend has not been issued even though the minority shareholder cannot demonstrate that there was oppressive conduct and there was a legitimate business reason for not issuing shareholder dividends?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relationship of the Parties.

Rees incorporated and is the founder of Real Carriage Door Company, Inc. ("RCDC"), which he grew from his construction and business experience. RP 6/18/19 at 130-131. Rees is also the innovator of the interior and exterior swing-out and sliding carriage doors and barn doors, and the hardware that makes them swing and slide, that RCDC manufactures and sells throughout the nation. Ex. 1 at ¶4.

Appellants are two of Rees's children, Scott Rees ("Scott") and Mardie Broderick ("Mardie"), and the remaining appellant is Mardie's husband, Jeremy Broderick ("Jeremy"), each of whom were gifted stock in RCDC. Ex. 1 at ¶1, 8. Scott, Mardie, and Jeremy are sometimes collectively referred to as the "appellants."

B. Rees and RCDC's success allows Rees to employ the appellants in the business.

RCDC's sales and rapid growth allowed Rees to make RCDC a family affair. In 2005, Mardie was unemployed, so Rees hired her to answer phones and put proposals together to provide income to her and time for

him to focus on advancing the business. RP 6/18/19 at 143. She later worked in sales. Ex. 1 at ¶5.

In 2006, Rees's then-wife, Beth Rees ("Beth"), filled in for Mardie to give Mardie time off and time to travel. RP 6/18/19 at 145. Beth continued to be employed at RCDC and subsequently gravitated towards human resources responsibilities. Ex. 1 at ¶5.

In 2006, Rees created a position for Scott, who had recently graduated from college, was unemployed and needed a job. RP 6/18/19 at 144-145. Scott eventually managed the company website and growing IT needs. Ex. 1 at ¶5. Rees also hired Mardie's husband, Jeremy, after he relocated to Washington, and he worked as a door drafter, later moving into pricing and sales. RP 6/18/19 at 158; Ex. 1 at ¶5.

By 2008, Rees was employing the appellants, Beth, a bookkeeper, and five carpenters and RCDC was generating an annual gross income of approximately \$1.9 million. Ex. 1 at ¶6.

C. Estate planning – gifting of RCDC shares.

In 2010, Rees and Beth began developing a plan, in consultation with their accountant, to begin gifting some of their shares in RCDC to the appellants. RP 6/19/19 at 7, 10-11; Ex. 1 at ¶7; Ex. 101. The plan had several goals: First, as a part of their long-term estate planning, each year Rees and Beth could gift RCDC stock to the appellants valued at or near the annual estate tax exemption threshold and thus avoid paying a gift tax. RP

6/19/19 at 7-10; Ex. 1 at ¶7; Ex. 101. Second, once the shares were gifted to the appellants, Don and Beth could make stock dividend distributions to the appellants as additional compensation and to incentivize them to make meaningful contributions to RCDC's success. RP 6/19/19 at 7-10; Ex. 1 at ¶7. Finally, by gifting the shares over time, it would make it more affordable for the appellants to someday purchase the remaining RCDC shares from Rees and Beth when they decided to retire. *Id.* The notion was to groom the appellants to eventually "take the company reins" and preserve RCDC as a Rees family legacy. *Id.* A critical component of the gifting "plan" was the appellants' commitment to remain RCDC employees and making ongoing contributions to the success of the company. RP 6/19/19 at 9-10.

The appellants assured Rees that they were indeed committed and for each year beginning in 2010 and until 2013, Rees and Beth gifted shares of RCDC stock to the appellants valued at or near the maximum amount allowed under the applicable annual estate tax exemption limits. RP 6/17/19 at 39-40; RP 6/19/19 at 9-11; Ex. 1 at ¶ 8; Ex. 101. The appellants paid nothing in exchange for their RCDC shares. RP 6/17/19 at 30, 39, 52; Ex. 127. By January 2013, the percentage ownership of the outstanding RCDC stock was as follows:

Don Rees - 51%

Beth Rees – 37% Scott Rees – 6% Mardie Broderick – 3.1% Jeremy Broderick – 2.9%.

Ex. 1 at ¶8.

D. Rees's and Beth's separation and eventual divorce.

In 2013, Rees's and Beth's marriage began to unravel and the gifting plan stopped. RP 6/19/19 at 11; Ex. 1 at ¶9. They separated in March 2013, and tensions between the family members began immediately. RP 6/19/19 at 12-13; Ex. 1 at ¶9. The appellants became angry, blamed Rees for the separation and sided with Beth. RP 6/19/19 at 12; Ex. 1 at ¶9.

Rees eventually filed for divorce in April 2014. RP 6/19/19 at 12-13; Ex. 1 at ¶14. All of the appellants subsequently terminated their employment with RCDC by the end of 2014 and, at the same time and in a coordinated effort, Beth attempted to wrestle control of RCDC from Rees by demanding the Court in their dissolution action issue a restraining order preventing Rees from making any decisions regarding RCDC matters without her participation. RP 6/19/19 at 31-33; Ex. 1 at ¶15. The Court denied Beth's motion and immediately thereafter Beth agreed to a settlement and resolution of the divorce proceedings, which included selling her RCDC stock to Rees. RP 6/19/19 at 33; Ex. 1 at ¶16; Exs. 102 and 103. Rees then became the owner of 88 percent of RCDC shares. Ex. 1 at ¶8.

E. RCDC stops dividend distributions and increases Rees's salary to maintain the same level of compensation.

Prior to 2015, Rees and Beth paid themselves smaller salaries than the revenue from RCDC justified, never receiving more than \$190,000 per year as salary between them. Ex. 1 at ¶23. Instead, most of the compensation they received was through annual stock dividend distributions because stock dividends are taxed at a much lower rate than wages or salary, resulting in a significant tax savings to them. Ex. 1 at ¶23. As RCDC's profits increased, so did the dividend distributions. Ex. 1 at ¶23; Exs. 122-126.

As Rees and Beth received a salary and dividend distributions for their total compensation, the appellants also received a salary and their *pro* rata dividend distributions for their total compensation. Ex. 1 at ¶24. After the appellants abruptly terminated their employment with RCDC and no longer contributed to its success, it made no sense to continue compensating them with either a salary or stock dividends. RP 6/19/19 at 51-52; Ex. 1 at ¶25.

Among other things, "Rees now either performed or oversaw the previous duties of his ex-wife, Beth Rees, and the [appellants] who all were no longer employed at RCDC." CP 264 (Finding of Fact 20). Accordingly, RCDC ceased shareholder distributions in 2015 and increased Rees's salary

so that his total compensation would remain the same. RP 6/19/19 at 51-53, 68. Rees's total annual compensation since 2015 remained the same or less than all previous years, either as a total dollar amount or as a percentage of RCDC's gross profit. RP 6/19/19 at 53; Ex. 1 at ¶28; Exs. 122-126, 129. It is only the characterization of the form of compensation that Rees has received since 2015 (salary plus dividends vs. salary only) that changed.

F. Procedural history.

The appellants commenced this lawsuit against Rees in March 2018 alleging claims of (1) breach of fiduciary duties; (2) fraud; (3) declaratory judgment; (4) injunctions, and (5) minority shareholder oppression. CP 1-7. The Honorable G. Helen Whitener presided over the trial, which lasted three days. Among other things, the appellants argued that Rees's 2015 and subsequent annual salaries were excessive, that a reasonable fair market annual salary for Rees would be a fraction of what he was paid, and that the difference between that amount and what Rees received in salary in 2015 and thereafter were actually "disguised dividends" that should have been distributed, pro rata, to all of the shareholders.

Judge Whitener found in favor of Rees and dismissed all of the appellants' claims with prejudice. The appellants appealed substantially all of the trial court's decisions.

The Court of Appeals issued a Decision on May 11, 2021, part of which is published and part is unpublished. In the unpublished portion of its Decision, the Court of Appeals agreed with Judge Whitener that Rees's 2015 and subsequent annual salaries were reasonable and that he did not breach his fiduciary duties to the corporation or engage in any fraud. App. 20-24. However, in the published portion of its Decision, the Court of Appeals reversed Judge Whitener's decision and instead concluded that Rees did engage in minority shareholder oppression as a matter of law by discontinuing shareholder distributions in 2015 and increasing his annual salary to approximate the total compensation he previously received. Rees is requesting the Supreme Court grant review of that part of the Court of Appeals' Decision reversing the trial court.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' holding that a corporation's failure to pay shareholder dividends to minority shareholders constitutes minority shareholder oppression as a matter of law is in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

The appellants alleged that Rees's salary was unreasonable and excessive, that the funds paid to Rees in excess of a reasonable salary should have been distributed as shareholder dividends and Rees's failure to pay shareholder dividends constituted minority shareholder oppression. Both

the trial court and the Court of Appeals agreed that Rees's salary was reasonable.

A minority shareholder oppression claim arises out of RCW 23B.14.300(2)(b). *Scott v. Trans-System, Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 708-09, 64 P.3d 1 (2003). Under that statute, trial courts have discretion to dissolve a corporation in a proceeding by a shareholder if there is proof that "[t]he directors or those in control of the corporation have acted . . . in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, or fraudulent." RCW 23B.14.300(2)(b). To prevail on their minority shareholder oppression claim, the appellants must prove that (1) Rees engaged in oppressive conduct, and (2) there was no legitimate business justification for the conduct. *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 712-13. The appellants failed to prove either of the required elements.

1. Oppressive conduct.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined that at all relevant times the salary RCDC paid Rees was reasonable. App. 19-20. The Court of Appeals contradicted that conclusion when it then determined stopping the distributions of shareholder dividends to pay Rees' salary (even though it was reasonable) was wrongful and oppressive to the minority shareholders as a matter of law. App. 9, 11. The Court of Appeals stated that "instead of distributing profits to the shareholders as RCDC historically had done, Rees paid those profits to himself" which it described

as "the plundering of a 'close' corporation by the siphoning off of profits by excessive salaries or bonus payments and the operation of the business for the sole benefit of the majority stockholders, to the detriment of the minority stockholders" and therefore oppressive under *Scott*. App. 9. The Court of Appeals' holding is in error because it conflicts with the standard for minority shareholder oppression articulated in *Scott*.

As stated above, in *Scott* this Court held that oppressive conduct includes "the plundering of a 'close' corporation by the siphoning off of profits by excessive salaries or bonus payments and the operation of the business for the sole benefit of the majority stockholders, to the detriment of the minority stockholders." *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 713 (emphasis added). This creates a two-element test: a minority shareholder must establish that the majority shareholder(s) are (1) siphoning off profits by excessive salaries or bonus payments, and (2) operating the business for their sole benefit to the detriment of the minority shareholders.

If Rees's salary is "reasonable", as determined by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals², by definition Rees's salary cannot be "excessive" as required in *Scott*. Recognizing the conflict, the Court of Appeals stated

¹ Scott, 148 Wn.2d at 713 (quoting Baker v. Commercial Body Builders, 264 Or. 614, 629, 507 P.2d 387 (1973)).

² The Court of Appeals specifically held that substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Rees's salaries at all relevant times were reasonable. App. 19-20.

that the question of whether Rees's salary was reasonable "is a different issue than the one addressed in the published portion of this opinion – whether recharacterizing Rees's total compensation as salary instead of dividend distributions constitutes minority shareholder oppression." App. 17. Under the Scott analysis, they are precisely the same issue, because it is precisely the same money – the appellants claim some part of the funds Rees received as salary should have been paid as shareholder dividend distributions. Rees's decision to pay himself a reasonable salary for his contributions to RCDC resulted in no funds remaining for a shareholder dividend distribution. Under the Court of Appeals analysis, to avoid the inevitable minority shareholder oppression claims, Rees would be required to gift part of his salary to the shareholders to distribute a shareholder dividend. That is not, and should not, be the law. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision in that regard must be reversed and this Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) to make clear that a minority shareholder must demonstrate the majority shareholder(s) are siphoning off profits by excessive salaries or bonus payments.

2. Reasonableness of decision / business judgment.

If the appellants could show oppressive conduct, then the burden would shift to Rees to show "legitimate business justifications for the conduct". *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 709. The appellants failed to show

oppressive conduct and thus the burden did not shift. However, the Court of Appeals confusingly engages in an analysis of the justification for Rees's decision to discontinue dividends and increase his salary in its analysis of oppressive conduct (App. at 9-11) and its application of the business judgment rule³ (App. 11-13). In both instances, the analysis violates the governing standard of review.

Appellate review from a bench trial is "limited to determining whether a trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence, and if so, whether those findings support the conclusion of law." *Am. Nursery Prods., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards*, 115 Wn.2d 217, 222, 797 P.2d 477 (1990). "Substantial evidence is a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person." *Sunnyside Valley Irrig. Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). The Court of Appeals must "view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party." *State v. Kaiser*, 161 Wn. App. 705, 724, 254 P.3d 850 (2011). It does not reweigh the evidence on appeal. *Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Group, PLLC*, 199 Wn.App. 306, 319, 402 P.2d 330 (2017).

³ The "business judgment rule" immunizes Rees from liability where his decisions are (a) within the power of the company and the authority of management, and (b) there is a reasonable basis to indicate that he acted in good faith. *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 709.

The trial court made the following conclusions of law: (1) "[n]ot distributing gifts of dividends was a reasonable and honest exercise of the directors' judgement" CP at 264 (Conclusion of Law 3), (2) Rees's decision not to distribute dividends was "within the power of RCDC and his authority of management. This decision was made in good faith and was reasonable" CP at 264 (Conclusion of Law 6); and (3) "Defendant Rees' actions were business judgments. He provided reasonable explanations for his conduct which were not oppressive" CP at 265 (Conclusion of Law 8).

Contrary to the applicable standard of review, the Court of Appeals effectively reviewed *de novo* the issue of the reasonableness of Rees's decision to discontinue dividends and increase his salary, justifying its holding by selectively picking and choosing from the evidence presented at trial, the trial court's findings and conclusions, and even its own Decision.

First, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's conclusions of law are unsupported by Finding of Fact 20⁴. Specifically, although the Court of Appeals recognized that "Rees's additional responsibilities certainly justified *some* increase in his salary," and that Rees's salary was reasonable, it held that the trial court's finding that he performed or oversaw

⁴ Finding of Fact 20 states: "In 2015 RCDC ceased distributing dividends to shareholders and started paying Defendant Rees an increased salary because Defendant Rees now either performed or oversaw the previous duties of his ex-wife, Beth Rees, and the Plaintiff's, Scott Rees, Mardie Broderick and Jeremy Broderick who all were no longer employed at RCDC." CP 264.

all previous duties of Beth and the appellants did not support the conclusion that he was justified in increasing it "by \$700,000 to \$1 million." App. 9-10. This holding completely contradicts the trial court's finding that Rees's annual salaries after 2014 were reasonable and not excessive⁵, and the Court of Appeals' agreement that substantial evidence supports that finding. App. 20. That alone supports the trial court's conclusions that Rees's decision to discontinue shareholder dividends and increase his salary to the same compensation as previous years was made in good faith and was reasonable. *Kaiser*, 161 Wn. App. at 724 (the Court of Appeals must "view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party.")

In any event, the Court of Appeals' holding necessarily looks to Finding of Fact 20 in isolation. It ignores the trial court's additional findings incorporated in conclusions of law 5 and 7 that Rees's salary "was not excessive but was reasonable and comparable to prior years when viewed as a whole given his role in RCDC and RCDC's success; his different job roles, job functions and increased work hours once the four family members left the company," CP 264 (Conclusion of Law 5), and that Rees "is authorized to pay himself a reasonable salary payment from 2015

⁵ CP 264 (Conclusions of Law 5 and 7)_e

to the present for Defendant Rees were reasonable for a President/CEO and were not excessive," CP 264 (Conclusion of Law 7). It also ignores the trial court's finding 18 that the only reason why Rees took an annual salary of \$190,000.00 (i.e., an unreasonably low salary) was to take advantage of a tax savings to him by receiving the income as a shareholder dividend distribution. CP 264. Each of those findings support the trial court's conclusions that Rees's decision to discontinue dividend distributions and pay himself an increased salary (which necessarily must include the amounts the appellants alleged should have been distributed as dividends) were made in good faith and reasonable.

Second, the Court of Appeals discards out of hand the trail court's findings encompassed in Conclusion of Law 4 that "[t]here was an implied agreement to pay the minority stockholders a salary and gifts of dividends only during the period of their employment and was terminated when they left the corporation." CP 264. Specifically, the Court of Appeals makes an entirely academic distinction between gifts of stock and the dividends that may be distributed by virtue of owning stock. Specifically, it held that the dividends the appellants received when employed at RCDC "were not 'gifts'; they were the appellants' share of the company profits." App. 10. But the Court of Appeals fails to explain how that distinction somehow negates the evidence presented at trial (which along with all reasonable

inferences is to be viewed in the light most favorable to Rees, *Kaiser*, 161 Wn. App. at 724) and the trial court's finding that there was an implied agreement that the appellants would receive a salary and dividends only while employed by the company. RP 6/19/19 at 7-10, 51-53; Ex. 1 at ¶7; CP 264. The Court of Appeals is drawing a distinction without any legal difference.

Finally, and most significantly, the Court of Appeals ignores its own holding that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings encompassed within Conclusions of Law 5 and 7 that Rees's salaries after 2014 were reasonable and not excessive. CP 19-20. Specifically, it fails to explain why the trial court's conclusion that Rees's decision to increase his annual salary to a reasonable amount, which would necessarily include the amounts the appellants allege should have been distributed as dividends, is not a "legitimate business reason" for discontinuing dividends.

The Court of Appeals' selective analysis of the trial court's findings and conclusions conflicts with the appropriate standard of appellate review as established by this Court and the Court of Appeals. Accordingly, the Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (2).

B. The Court of Appeals' decision that Rees oppressed the appellants because he discontinued dividend distributions without a valid business justification involves an issue of substantial public interest.

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