# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2021 11:34 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99879-5

Court of Appeals No. 53991-8-II

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

REAL CARRIAGE DOOR COMPANY, INC., ex rel. SCOTT T. REES, MARDIE A. BRODERICK and JEREMY BRODERICK, Shareholders Thereof; and SCOTT T. REES, MARDIE A.R. BRODERICK and JEREMY E. BRODERICK, Individually,

Respondents,

v.

#### DON T. REES,

Petitioner

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP

James A. Krueger, WSBA # 3408 Lucy R. Clifthorne, WSBA # 27287 Attorneys for Respondents

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 1900 P. O. Box 1315

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT FOR DENYING REVIEW

Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals correctly held that the evidence at trial did not support the trial court's findings of fact on the issue of minority oppression, and its findings did not support the conclusions of law. Contrary to the Petitioner's arguments, the Opinion applies the standard of review articulated in *Am. Nursery Prods. Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards*; is consistent with the decision in *Scott v. Trans-System, Inc.*; and does not hold that failure to issue a dividend constitutes oppression as a matter of law "even though the minority shareholder cannot demonstrate that there was oppressive conduct." Petition for Review ("Pet. Rev.") at 2.

# A. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review.

Petitioner misunderstands the Court of Appeals opinion when he claims it conflicts with *Am. Nursery Prods., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards, 115* Wn.2d 217, 797 P.2d 477 (1990). The Court of Appeals did not review *de novo* the reasonableness of Petitioner's decision to discontinue shareholder dividends and increase his own salary. Rather, the Court of Appeals held that substantial evidence does not support the factual findings of the trial court: "Nothing in the record supports a finding that because the Appellants no longer were working at RCDC, Rees was justified in discontinuing the distribution of dividends and increasing his annual salary by \$700,000 to \$1 million." Opinion at 9-10.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review, which is to determine whether a trial court's findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence, and if so, whether the findings support its conclusions of law. *Am. Nursery Prods.*, 115 Wn.2d at 222 (citation omitted). "Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise." *Id.* (citation omitted). Application of this standard of review requires the Court of Appeals to review the record for evidence to support the trial court's factual findings.

Petitioner's argument centers on the Court of Appeals' discussion of the trial court's Finding of Fact No. 20, which states:

In 2015 RCDC ceased distributing dividends to shareholders and started paying Defendant Rees an increased salary because Defendant Rees now either performed or oversaw the previous duties of his ex-wife, Beth Rees, and the Plaintiff's [sic], Scott Rees, Mardie Broderick and Jeremy Broderick, who all were no longer employed at RCDC.

Pet. Rev. at 13, n 4. The Opinion agrees there was evidence that Don Rees "now either performed or oversaw the previous duties of the Appellants after they no longer were employed at RCDC." Opinion at 9. What the Court did *not* find was evidence that justified Don Rees's decision to discontinue all payment of dividends of profit, and to redirect the profit solely to himself.

Rees's stated reason for discontinuing payment of dividends was that the minority shareholders no longer worked for the Company. Opinion at 4 (citing RP at 52, 68). The trial court made factual findings in its conclusions of law 3 and 4 that the corporation's practice was to make "gifts of dividends" and there was "an implied agreement to pay the minority stockholders a salary and *gifts of dividends* only during the period of their employment . . ." Opinion at 10 (emphasis added by Court of Appeals).

The Court of Appeals found no evidence in the record – much less substantial evidence – of an implied agreement among shareholders that profit dividends would only be paid if shareholders were employed by the corporation. Opinion at 10-11. While additional responsibilities "justified

some increase" in Rees's salary, there was nothing in the record to support a finding that because minority shareholders were not employed, Rees was justified "in discontinuing the distribution of dividends and increasing his annual salary by \$700,000 to \$1million." Opinion at 9-10. This holding is not the result of a *de novo* review by the Court of Appeals; it is the result of the Court's review of the evidence at trial and of the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.

# B. The Court of Appeals followed Scott v. Trans-System, Inc.

Don Rees contends that the Opinion conflicts with *Scott v. Trans-System, Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 64 P.3rd 1 (2003) by holding that Rees' conduct constituted minority oppression, while holding in the unpublished portion that Rees's salary increases were not excessive so as to breach his duty to the corporation or constitute fraud.

Rees's argument ignores the Court of Appeals' careful segregation of its holding. In the reported portion of the Opinion, the Court painstakingly reviews the well-established law going back over half a century to reach the conclusion that Rees's conduct in punishing his children and son-in-law by ceasing to make any dividend distributions constitutes minority oppression. This determination has nothing to do with whether Petitioner's salary from the corporation was excessive. It has everything to do with the fact that the company had profit, and although the

company could afford to continue its historic practice of distributing profit to all shareholders proportionate to their ownership, Petitioner elected to discontinue all payment of dividends, and to direct the profit solely to himself.

The Court of Appeals explained the question of whether Rees's redirection of all profit for his own sole benefit constitutes minority shareholder oppression is a different issue than that discussed in the unpublished portion of the opinion. Opinion at 17. If the determination in the unpublished portion that Rees's salary did not breach a duty to the corporation was intended to apply to the issue of minority oppression, the Court would have published that portion as well.

Rees wants to focus solely on whether his salary is excessive, ignoring the "recognized principle that majority shareholders 'must, at all times, exercise good faith toward the minority stockholders." Opinion at 6 (quoting *Hay v. Big Bend Land Co.*, 32 Wn.2d 887, 897, 204 P.2d 488 (1949). But the issue with respect to minority oppression is not whether the corporation could afford Rees's dramatic increase to his own compensation, but whether "those in control of the corporation have acted . . . in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, or fraudulent." Opinion at 7 (citing RCW 23B.14.300(2))9b)).

In analyzing this issue, the Court of Appeals applied the standards set forth in *Scott*, which held that oppressive conduct includes:

the plundering of a 'close' corporation by the siphoning off of profits by excessive salaries or bonus payments and the operation of the business for the sole benefit of the majority of the stockholders, to the detriment of the minority stockholders.

Opinion at 7-8 (citing *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 713 (quoting *Baker v. Commercial Body-Builders, Inc.*, 264 Or. 614, 629, 507 P.2d 387 (1973)). Rees ignores the basis of the oppression claim -- that he was siphoning off profits for his sole benefit, to the detriment of minority shareholders. Rees paid the profit to himself "rather than making regular dividend distributions that would benefit all the shareholders." Opinion at 6, 9. Again, the issue is not merely the increase in his own salary and bonuses, but his act of converting the other shareholders' proportionate share of the profits for his own exclusive benefit.

The Court of Appeals also followed *Scott* in holding that the burden does not shift to those in control to show a legitimate business justification for their decisions unless a minority shareholder has shown oppressive conduct. Opinion at 8 ("The minority shareholder bears the burden to prove oppressive conduct by a preponderance of the evidence.") As the *Scott* court explained, it is only then that the burden shifts:

Once overreaching conduct has been demonstrated, the burden shifts to the majority shareholder or shareholders to show that there were legitimate business justifications for the conduct.

*Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 709. Consistent with the decision in *Scott*, only after finding overreaching conduct by Rees did the Court of Appeals turn its attention to Rees's stated reason for his actions.

Rees admitted "... the only reason he discontinued paying dividends was because the Appellants no longer worked for RCDC." Opinion at 12. The Court of Appeals found that "nothing in the record supports a finding that because the Appellants no longer were working at RCDC, Rees was justified in discontinuing the distribution of dividends and increasing his annual salary by \$700,000 to \$1 million." Opinion at 10. Furthermore, the Court found "... no evidence that supported the finding that there was an implied agreement to distribute dividends to Appellants only while they were working for RCDC." Opinion at 11. Thus, "the undisputed evidence establishes as a matter of law that Rees's justification for paying RCDC's profits to himself instead of paying dividends – because the Appellants no longer worked for RCDC – was not a legitimate business reason." Opinion at 12.

As the Court of Appeals states,

Rees did not explain why there was a *business* reason for not paying dividends and how his dividend decision benefitted

RCDC. Instead, he admitted that the only reason he discontinued paying dividends was because the Appellants no longer worked for RCDC. He was using the payment of dividends to reward the Appellants while they worked for RCDC and to not reward them when they did not."

Opinion at 12. The Court noted that "dividends are not 'bonuses' to be distributed for good performance. They are a way that the existing shareholders share in a company's profits." Opinion at 12. Rees had no business reason to stop paying dividends and to divert all profit to himself.

Petitioner argues that the Court's statement in the unpublished portion of its Opinion, that Rees's post-2014 salaries were not excessive with respect to the question of whether Rees breached his fiduciary duties to the corporation or committed fraud, necessarily means that Rees's conduct could not be oppressive as to minority shareholders. However, as noted above, the Court distinguished the claim of minority shareholder oppression from the issues of whether Rees breached his duties to the corporation itself, and whether his actions were fraudulent. Opinion at 17.

With respect to minority shareholder oppression, the Court noted the "well-established principle that majority shareholders owe a duty of good faith to minority shareholders," and held that a majority shareholder cannot simply stop paying dividends without a valid business justification. Opinion at 13 (citing *Hay v. Big Bend Land Co.*, 32 Wn.2d 887, 204 P.2d 488 (1949)).

# C. The Opinion does not involve a novel question of substantial public interest as it is based entirely upon well-settled law.

The Petitioner mischaracterizes the Opinion as standing for the proposition that any time a corporation declines to declare a dividend it will constitute oppressive conduct to minority shareholders as a matter of law. Pet. Rev. at 17. That is not what the Opinion states. Rather, the Opinion carefully explains the reasoning for finding minority shareholder oppression under the egregious facts of this case. Unlike situations where majority shareholders determine it is not in the best interests of a corporation or its shareholders to declare a dividend, in this case Rees not only made the decision to pay no profit dividends for personal reasons, but he assured this draconian measure would affect all of the shareholders except himself.

Rees argues that that the Court of Appeals decision is "a shockingly profound holding, with far reaching implications for every Washington corporation with one or more minority shareholders." Pet. Rev. at 17. He makes this claim by blatantly ignoring the test applied by Washington courts, and by the Court of Appeals in this case. The minority shareholders were required to prove that (1) Rees engaged in oppressive conduct, *and* (2) there was no legitimate business justification for the conduct. Opinion at 8 (citing *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 712-13). Rees simply ignores the first requirement, and misapplies the second.

In reaching its conclusion, the Court of Appeals reviewed almost the entire body of law in this state dealing with what constitutes minority shareholder oppression. In support of its decision, the Court considered RCW 23B.14.300(2)(b), which it cited as "The foundation of a minority shareholder oppression claim...." (Opinion at 7.) The Court then examined Scott v. Trans-System, Inc., 148 Wn.2d 701, 708-09, 64 P.3rd 1 (2003); McCormick v. Dunn & Black, P.S., 140 Wn. App. 873, 889, 167 P.3rd 610 (2007); In Re Spokane Concrete Prods., Inc., 126 Wn.2d 269, 279, 892 P.2d 98 (1995); Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v. Bucholz, 45 Wn. App. 502, 509, 728 P.2d 597 (1986). Opinion at 8. The Court then concludes that "... Rees is incorrect that a majority shareholder simply can stop paying dividends without a valid business justification." Opinion at 13. (citing Hay, 32 Wn.2d at 897). This decision is consistent with Washington law, and does not give rise to implications for a corporation's shareholders outside those with facts showing that controlling shareholders' conduct is illegal, fraudulent, or oppressive.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Rees fails to establish the criteria for granting a Petition for Review because the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review when it held that substantial evidence does not support the trial court's findings of fact with respect to the minority oppression claim. The linchpin of the

Petitioner's argument is that portions of the unpublished opinion are to be

applied to the published portion of the opinion. The fact that the Court of

Appeals found in the unpublished portion of its Opinion that Rees's salary

was not so excessive as to give rise to a breach of fiduciary duty to the

corporation or fraud has no bearing whatsoever upon its determination that

Rees's conduct in paying profits exclusively to himself, on the grounds that

the minority shareholders had ceased working for the corporation,

constitutes oppression of such minority shareholders.

The Court of Appeals opinion is consistent with the well-established

law of this state going back over half a century. It does not give rise to an

issue of substantial public importance which would merit review by the

Supreme Court.